
 
 
 
 

 

 
 

August 18, 2017 
 
 
 
Chris McCook Contracting (License # 869059) 
Attn:  Mr. Chris McCook 
4391 Price Avenue 
Santa Rosa, CA 95407 
 
Dear Mr. McCook, 
 
Subject: Notice of Violation of Unpermitted Discharges of Waste and 

Requirement for Information, Pursuant to Water Code Section 13267: 
Instream Bank Stabilization at 21786 Moscow Road, Monte Rio 

 
Violations: Section 301 of the Federal Water Pollution Control Act (Clean Water Act); 

Section 13376 of the Porter Cologne Water Quality Control Act (Water Code); 
and Discharge Prohibitions of the Water Quality Control Plan for the North 
Coast Region (Basin Plan)  

 
File: Instream Bank Stabilization at 21786 Moscow Road Monte Rio;  

WDID 1B171423WNSO; ECM PIN CW-736983 
 
On June 26, 2017, the California Regional Water Quality Control Board, North Coast Region 
(Regional Water Board) received your email describing instream bank stabilization work 
that you performed in January 2017.  Construction activities were performed without 
receiving a Clean Water Act Section 401 Water Quality Certification (401 permit).  Your 
unpermitted activities are in violation of Section 301 of the Federal Water Pollution Control 
Act (Clean Water Act), Section 13376 of the Porter Cologne Water Quality Control Act 
(Water Code) and Discharge Prohibitions of the Water Quality Control Plan for the North 
Coast Region (Basin Plan). 
 
Pursuant to Water Code section 13267, you are required to submit technical reports 
containing the information listed below (see Information Required) no later than 45 days 
from the date of this letter (13267 Order).  Please direct the reports and any related 
correspondence to the attention of Regional Water Board staff Kaete King.  
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A. Background 
1. In the fall of 2007, you worked with our office to obtain an emergency permit for 

bank stabilization work (Russian River Bank Erosion at Moscow Road; WDID 
1B07154WNSO).  Special condition 9 of your Army Corps authorization (File 
Number 2007-400827N) stated, “For any subsequent applications for bank 
stabilization projects at this project location, you shall contact and formulate project 
plans with an engineer familiar with bank stabilization techniques, and engineered 
drawings shall be submitted with your application.”  
 

2. You phoned the Regional Water Board twice in early 2017 and spoke with staff 
member Gil Falcone who informed you of our policies and procedures for 
permitting an emergency project. 
 

3. On June 26, 2017, you emailed the Regional Water Board and other agencies to 
describe bank stabilization work you performed on your property at 21786 Moscow 
Road, Monte Rio, in January 2017 (enclosure).  From the information you provided, 
we deduce that the project involved using an excavator to move earth and to install 
plastic sheeting, rock, and gravel on the bank of the Russian River in contact with 
flowing water.  The project, as described and shown in your email, does not meet 
water quality standards and was performed without permits. 
 

4. You also performed unpermitted construction on your neighbor’s property at 21800 
Moscow Road (Tobey Property) and caused discharge of waste.  This work also does 
not meet water quality standards.  Gary Tobey, property owner of 21800 Moscow 
Road, has hired a professional engineer and has submitted an application for Clean 
Water Act Section 401 Water Quality Certification (WDID 1B171485WNSO) to 
perform restoration and mitigation.  The Tobey Property is expected to be restored 
prior to November 2017, using bioengineering techniques. 

 
B. Alleged Violations 

1. California Water Code: Section 301 of the Clean Water Act (33 U.S.C. § 1311) 
prohibits the discharge of pollutants to waters of the United States.  Compliance 
with the prohibition is obtained by receiving the appropriate permit for the scope  
of work prior to the initiation of the project and its attendant scope of work; 
unpermitted discharge is a violation. 
 

2. Section 13376 of the Water Code requires that a report of waste discharge be filed 
by any person discharging pollutants or proposing to discharge pollutants to waters 
of the United States.  The discharge of pollutants or dredged or fill material by any 
person, except as authorized by waste discharge requirements or dredged or fill 
material permits, is prohibited. 
 
 
 



Chris McCook Contracting - 3 - August 18, 2017 
WDID 1B171423WNSO; ECM PIN CW-736983 
 
 

 
 
 

3. The Basin Plan prohibits the following: 
a. The discharge of soil, silt, bark, slash, sawdust, or other organic and earthen 

material from any logging, construction, or associated activity of whatever 
nature into any stream or watercourse in the basin in quantities deleterious 
to fish, wildlife, or other beneficial uses is prohibited.  
 

b. The placing or disposal of soil, silt, bark, slash, sawdust, or other organic and 
earthen material from any logging, construction, or associated activity of 
whatever nature at locations where such material could pass into any stream 
or watercourse in the basin in quantities which could be deleterious to fish, 
wildlife, or other beneficial uses is prohibited. 

 
C. Information Required 
No later than 45 days from the date of this 13267 Order, technical reports, containing the 
information listed below, shall be submitted to Regional Water Board staff: 
 

1. A report describing the activities performed in a chronological order with beginning 
and end dates  at 21786 and 21800 Moscow Road.  The report shall also include: 

a. An assessment of all threatened and endangered species located in the 
project areas at the time of construction; 

b. A calculation of the linear feet and acreage of waters of the state and United 
States that were temporarily or permanently impacted, and volume of fill; 

c. A characterization of all fill materials; 
d. A detailed description of construction methods used; 
e. Any designs, diagrams, maps, plans, and as-builts of the activities performed; 
f. A description of what measures, if any, were taken to prevent or mitigate 

and/or monitor sediment releases from construction activities; and 
g. Copies of permits applied for and/or received. 

 
2. A workplan for restoration and mitigation at 21786 Moscow Road that addresses all 

unpermitted impacts to waters of the state and United States, with the goal of 
restoration of ecological functions and mitigation of temporal and permanent loss of 
functions.  The workplan shall include: 

a. An alternatives analysis identifying the least environmentally damaging 
practical alternative (i.e. bioengineering techniques are considered having 
less impact than rip rap on stream bank protection projects); 

b. An assessment of how the restoration will weave together with the repairs 
being performed at Tobey Property; 

c. Measureable success criteria to ensure functions are fully restored and/or 
adequately mitigated; 

d. An annual monitoring and reporting plan that demonstrates progress toward 
the success criteria; and 

e. A 401 Water Quality Certification and/or Waste Discharge Requirements 
application for dredge/fill projects to permit the restoration and mitigation 
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per the workplan.  The application can be found here: 
http://www.swrcb.ca.gov/northcoast/water_issues/programs/water_qualit
y_certification.shtml  

 
Pursuant to Water Code section 13385, any person who violates Water Code section 13376 
can be liable for up to $10,000 for each day in which the violation occurs.  Where there is a 
discharge, an additional liability may be assessed up to $10 per gallon. 
 
Pursuant to Water Code section 13268, any person failing or refusing to furnish technical 
reports required under Water Code section 13267, or falsifying any information provided 
therein, is guilty of a misdemeanor and subject to an administrative civil liability of up to 
one thousand dollars ($1,000) for each day in which the violation occurs. 
 
Please contact Ms. Kaete King at Kaete.King@waterboards.ca.gov or (707) 576-2848, with 
any questions pertaining to this Notice of Violation and 13267 Order and to discuss 
obtaining a 401 water quality certification permit for this project, at your earliest 
opportunity. 
 
Sincerely, 
 
 
 
 
Shin-Roei Lee 
Assistant Executive Officer 
 
170818_KRK_er_McCook NOV 
 
Enclosure: McCook email with photos 
 
Certified - Return Receipt Requested 
 
cc: Chris McCook, christophercmccook@yahoo.com  
 Bryan Matsumoto, Army Corps of Engineers, Bryan.T.Matsumoto@usace.army.mil  
 Karen Weiss, CDFW, Karen.Weiss@wildlife.ca.gov  
 Reg Cullen, Sonoma County Engineering, Reg.Cullen@sonoma-county.org 
 Mark Franceschi, Sonoma County Code Enforcement,  

Mark.Franceschi@sonoma-county.org 
Jennifer Siu, EPA, siu.jennifer@epa.gov 

 

http://www.swrcb.ca.gov/northcoast/water_issues/programs/water_quality_certification.shtml
http://www.swrcb.ca.gov/northcoast/water_issues/programs/water_quality_certification.shtml
mailto:Kaete.King@waterboards.ca.gov
file://ca.epa.local/RB/RB1/Shared/NPS/401/Document%20Review/King/McCook%20email%20with%20photos.pdf
mailto:christophercmccook@yahoo.com
mailto:Bryan.T.Matsumoto@usace.army.mil
mailto:Karen.Weiss@wildlife.ca.gov
mailto:Reg.Cullen@sonoma-county.org
mailto:Mark.Franceschi@sonoma-county.org
mailto:siu.jennifer@epa.gov
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King, Kaete@Waterboards


From: Chris Mccook <christophercmccook@yahoo.com>
Sent: Monday, June 26, 2017 4:45 PM
To: sahrye.e.cohen@usace.army.mil; King, Kaete@Waterboards; Guzman, 


Angelica@Wildlife; Brentt.Blaser@sonoma-county.org
Cc: Chris Mccook; Gary Tobey
Subject: Notification of Russian River Emergency work, Monte Rio, Sonoma County
Attachments: High water.jpeg; Slump Discovery.jpg; Trees in River.jpg; Before View from upper 


deck.jpg; Excavator 1.jpg; Finished 1.jpg


  
 Dear Sahrye Cohen, Brendan Thompson, Angelica Guzman and Brent Blazer, 
 


 
    My wife Serena and I own a beautiful home on the Russian River at 21786 Moscow Rd.  This winter, the 
river undercut our bank and when the water receded, a massive section of land dropped and vanished leaving a 
50-foot long, 10-12 foot vertical dirt wall only 4 feet from our deck and 16 feet from the house. It was shocking 
and disturbing. I never imagined that could happen. I have attached photos that show what I describe and the 
emergency measure taken. 
  
     I discovered the slump on January 15, 2017. I knew that another storm was forecast to begin in 2 days and 
the river was expected to rise about the same as the previous storm, which was 1 foot below our deck. This 
would have submerged the new dirt cliff. I realized I had only 2 days to do something before the rains would 
start, and the river would rise again. Fortunately, I had some experience with moving rock and was able to act 
quickly and place a rock buttress to at least temporarily prevent further collapse and likely the loss of our home, 
the most valuable asset we own.  The next storm did, in fact, completely submerge all of the new riprap.   
 
    On January 25th I notified, by phone, DFW, PRMD, Army Corps, and RWQCB that emergency 
work had been done. A plan was submitted on March 20 to PRMD (GRD17-0039) that describes 
the work in more detail. I am beginning work with engineers and all of the appropriate agencies on 
a final design and intend to acquire authorization and finish the project before this winter.   
 
    I did not know the specific time requirements for written notice and plans to be submitted to the various 
regulatory bodies, but I fear that I have not met all of them. I recently learned the DFW requires notice before 
work, but that they have leeway for extenuating circumstances. I believe our circumstance demanded immediate 
action and any delay could have been disastrous - and I hope leeway will be granted.  I apologize for my delay 
of formal written notice and have attached a copy of the preliminary permit application that roughly summarizes 
the event on my property. The emergency buttress is temporary and I believe should mostly be removed and 
utilized on the actual toe of slope stabilization to prevent further undercutting of the bank. I used roughly the 
same method that I had used in 2008 for an RGP5 stabilization job on my upstream neighbors' properties that 
ended at our property line.  
  
    In addition, this winter the river shifted dramatically downstream of our house removing roughly a 400 ft by 
20-40 ft strip of land. A similar event occurred over the course of days in February at our downstream neighbor, 
Gary Tobey's, house (21800 Moscow Rd). Just days before another storm was forecast he called me in distress 
and asked if I could do the same thing to fill his void and I did. I informed him I could act as his agent by the 
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hour to fill his request, he would pay for everything directly to the suppliers, which he did, there would be no 
mark up, and that permitting and anything else was up to him. This arrangement was based on phone 
calls. His go-ahead was given the morning the job began and there is no written agreement.  It was 
one neighbor coming to the aid of another whose house was in great jeopardy. Gary has hired an 
engineer to assist with his permitting and will provide you with details of his emergency work if he 
has not already. 
  
   Please understand the very difficult position my neighbor and I were and are in. I believe my actions were in 
good faith and in the best interest of the river in order to avert catastrophe. I met a few people from PRMD and 
other agencies on the site shortly after who agreed that the situation was dire and the action was 
appropriate.  We are requesting the Army Corps RGP5 designation for this project and request 
forgiveness if we failed to meet protocol. 
  
    If the toe of the slope undercutting is not stopped, I am certain a similar failure will occur. Any assistance in 
expediting the permitting process is greatly appreciated as we must complete the stabilization prior to winter. 
Cost estimates are a bit scary and I have worked with my two downstream neighbors to apply for grants through 
NRCS and Sonoma County Office of  Emergencies (notes below).  We will be even more grateful if any 
assistance prioritizing our applications for grant funding can be managed.  I know that the 2 houses in the 
greatest jeopardy generate almost $20,000 per year in Transient Occupancy Taxes for the county and other 
benefits of tourism for California. 
  
    Please feel free to contact me.  I will be following up shortly with more information on the history of this 
location and the project. 
  
With Gratitude,  
Chris McCook 
707-540-4312 
4391 Price Ave 
Santa Rosa, CA 95407 
  
    
Notes: 
Sonoma County Office of Emergencies Contacts: 
Chris Helgren & Brent Blaser; Application:“Hazard mitigation grant program,” by Cal OES 
Brentt.Blaser@sonoma-county.org  
Christopher.Helgren@sonoma-county.org  707-565-6160 
  
National Resources Conservation Service (NRCS) Contacts: 
NRCS, Petaluma, CA <Darren.Holguin@ca.usda.gov>; Pippi, Brooke - NRCS, Petaluma, CA 
<Brooke.Pippi@ca.usda.gov> 
Walser, Jennifer - NRCS, Petaluma, CA [mailto:Jennifer.Walser@ca.usda.gov] Phone: 707.794.1242 x 113 
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